AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE MAPLETON EDUCATION ASSOCIATION

AND THE



BOARD OF EDUCATION

JULY 1, 2024 - JUNE 30, 2027

Updated 04/16/2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Description

Preamble	·	0
ARTICLE 1 -	Recognition	1
ARTICLE 2 -	DEFINITIONS	2
ARTICLE 3 -	Association Rights 3.1 Dues Deduction 3.2 Association Leave 3.3 Board Agenda, Meetings, Minutes 3.4 Use of District Facilities 3.5 Transactions of Association Business 3.6 Teacher Representatives	3-5 3 4 4 4 5
ARTICLE 4	General Provisions	6
ARTICLE 5	Negotiation Procedures 5.1 Initiation of Negotiations 5.2 Conducting Negotiations 5.3 Adopting Agreement 5.4 Mediation 5.5 Fact Finding	7-9 7 7 8 8 9
ARTICLE 6	Teaching Conditions 6.1 Teacher Work Year 6.2 Teacher Work Day/Week 6.3 Classroom Interruptions 6.4 Collection or Handling of Moneys 6.5 Protection of Personal Property 6.6 Complaints Against Teachers 6.7 Teacher Participation in Budget Dev	10-16 10 11-12 13 13 13 13
	6.8 Use of Time 6.9 Change in Student's Grade 6.10 Teacher Assignments 6.11 Evaluation & Observation 6.12 Teacher Files 6.13 Teacher Facilities 6.14 Required Physical Examinations 6.15 Small-by-Design	13-14 14 14-15 15-16 16
ARTICLE 7	Collaborative Leadership	17
ARTICLE 8	Vacancies and Involuntary Transfers 8.2. Vacancies 8.3 Involuntary Transfers	18-20 18 18-20
ARTICLE 9	Grievance Procedure 9.1 Definitions 9.2 Purpose 9.3 Procedures	21-23 21 21 21-22

	9.4 General Provisions	22-23
ARTICLE 10	Academic Freedom	24
ARTICLE 11	Curriculum Development	25
ARTICLE 12	Professional Council	26
ARTICLE 13	Sick Leave bank	27-28
ARTICLE 14	Student Discipline	29
ARTICLE 15	Teacher Protection from Assaults	30
ARTICLE 16	Reduction in Force	31-32
ARTICLE 17	Sick/Personal Leave	33-34
ARTICLE 18	Bereavement Leave	35
ARTICLE 19	Other Types of Leaves 19.1 Extended Leaves 19.2 Temporary Leaves 19.3 Sabbatical Leaves	36-39 36-38 38 38-39
ARTICLE 20	Salaries and Benefits 20.1 Salaries 20.1.5 Transitional Retirement 20.2 Credit Hours 20.3 Experience Credit 20.4 Collaborative Leadership 20.5 Co-Curricular Activities 20.6 Insurance 20.7 Annual Review 20.8 Reimbursements 20.9 Hard to fill Positions	40-45 40-41 41 441-42 42-43 43 43-44 44 44-45 45
ARTICLE 21	Management Rights	46
ARTICLE 22	Duration of Agreement	47
APPENDIX I	Teachers' Salary Schedule	48
APPENDIX II	Co-Curricular Salary Schedule (District Level Assignments)	49
APPENDIX III	Co-Curricular School Level Assignments	50

Preamble

The Mapleton Public Schools Board of Education and the Mapleton Education Association recognize and declare that providing a superior quality education program for all children of Mapleton Public Schools is their mutual aim and that the character of such education depends upon the Board, the administration, and the teaching staff; and NOW, THEREFORE, the Board and the Association agree as follows:

The Mapleton Public Schools Board of Education and the Mapleton Education Association recognize and declare that providing a superior quality education for all Mapleton students is their mutual aim, and that the character of such education depends upon the Board, the administration, and the teaching staff. Now, therefore, the Board and the Association agree as follows:

We stand united in our commitment to foster an educational environment that embodies the principles of Respect, Equity, Diversity, and Inclusion. These core values are the bedrock upon which we build our community, shaping the way we interact, make decisions, and guide our learners toward a brighter, more inclusive future.

Respect is the cornerstone of our collective character, ensuring that every interaction within our schools is marked by empathy, understanding, and genuine consideration for others. We pledge to cultivate a setting where all voices are heard and valued, allowing every individual to express their true self in a safe and supportive environment.

Equity guides our efforts to provide every member of our community with access to the resources, opportunities, and support they need to flourish. By recognizing and addressing the unique challenges and needs of others, we endeavor to create an educational lands cape where every teacher is supported, and every student is empowered to reach their fullest potential.

Diversity enriches our educational ecosystem with a multitude of perspectives, backgrounds, and experiences. We are committed to embracing these differences, understanding that they are a source of strength and a means to foster a more vibrant and dynamic learning environment.

Inclusion is central to our commitment, as we strive to ensure that every person feels a sense of belonging and engagement within our schools and across our district. Our aim is to not only welcome but to actively involve every member of our community, acknowledging and valuing their contributions to our collective educational journey.

In declaring our steadfast support for these principles, we affirm our dedication to weave these values into the very fabric of our educational practices. We recognize the ongoing nature of this commitment, understanding that our journey toward a more equitable, inclusive, and diverse community is one of continuous learning and growth.

This preamble stands as a testament to our shared responsibility to embody and advocate for these values in every facet of our educational system. Through concerted effort and unwavering commitment, we are dedicated to building an educational environment that is not only conducive to learning but also fosters a deep sense of justice, understanding, and inclusivity for all.

ARTICLE 1 Recognition

- 1.1 The Adams County, School District No. 1, Board of Education recognizes the Mapleton Education Association as the exclusive and sole representative bargaining agent for all full-time and part-time licensed classroom teachers, librarians, nurses, counselors, speech/language specialists, social workers and psychologists.
- 1.2 The Board agrees not to negotiate with any of the above-named personnel individually or any teachers' organization other than the Mapleton Education Association for the duration of this Agreement.
- 1.3 All rights and privileges granted to the Association under the terms and provisions of this Agreement are for the exclusive use of the Association as representative of all licensed personnel

ARTICLE 2 Definitions

2.1 The terms "all full-time and part-time licensed classroom teachers, librarians, counselors, speech/language specialists, social workers. psychologists" as stated in the Recognition Article will be referred to as TEACHERS unless otherwise stated in this Agreement. 2.2 The term BOARD shall mean the Board of Education of Adams County, School District No.1 (Mapleton), Colorado. 2.3 The term SCHOOL DIRECTOR shall mean any school administrator or assistant. 2.4 The term FACULTY REPRESENTATIVE shall mean the Association's elected or appointed representative at any school or work location. 2.5 The term SUPERINTENDENT shall mean the Chief Executive Officer of Schools. Adams County, School District No. 1 (Mapleton). 2.6 The term SCHOOL shall mean any school, grounds, or any location or office to which a teacher is assigned permanently or temporarily. 2.7 The term ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE shall mean any Association Officer or Faculty Representative, or other person appointed or approved by the Association to act on its behalf, including state or national Association representatives. 2.8 The term PARTIES shall mean the Board and the Association as participants in this Agreement. 2.9 The term DAY shall mean school day, unless otherwise specified. 2.10 The term PART-TIME TEACHER means a teacher who normally performs services as an employee of a school in an amount of time less than four hours during each regular school day. 2.11 Whenever the singular is used in this Agreement, it shall mean plural as

appropriate.

ARTICLE 3 Association Rights

3.1 Dues Deduction

- 3.1.1 The Board agrees to deduct from teachers' salaries an amount of money sufficient to pay the member's dues and contributions to the United Teaching Profession (MEA, CEA, NEA) as certified by the Association, where such deductions have been voluntarily and individually authorized by the teacher. The Board agrees to transmit all such moneys deducted to the treasurer of the Association on a regular monthly basis.
- 3.1.2 The Association will furnish the Superintendent's Designee with dues deduction forms properly signed by the member on or before the first payday in August. Such authorization forms shall remain in effect during the employment of the member. Deductions will be made in equal installments for each pay period from the first paycheck on August 31, through the last paycheck on August 15.
- 3.1.3 Any member may revoke his or her dues deduction authorization for the following year at any time prior to August 1, by notifying the designated Association officer in writing. The Association will notify the School District's payroll department prior to August 15.
- 3.1.4 Monthly deduction of dues will begin with the August 31 paycheck; any person joining MEA for the first time after the first paycheck of each school year shall pay the regular monthly dues for the remainder of the salary year.
- 3.1.5 A member of the Association who leaves the payroll during the school year will have the balance of dues deducted for that membership year from his or her last paycheck. In cases of hardship or unusual circumstances, the Association may waive the balance of dues owed, and will notify the District in writing of such waiver.
- 3.1.6 Dues deduction shall stop for any member of the Association taking an unpaid leave. Upon resumption of salary, dues deduction shall automatically resume.
- 3.1.7 The Board will in no way become an agent for the Association or any member of the bargaining unit, except that the Board agrees to take every possible precaution to assure that dues deduction accurately reflects the authorization of the respective teachers.
- 3.1.8 The Association agrees to hold the Board harmless from any action growing out of these deductions, commenced against the Board or the School District and assumes full responsibility for the distribution of the funds deducted once they have been turned over to the Treasurer of the Association.

3.2 Association Leave

Memorandum of Understanding

Pending Board approval of MEA's Full-Time President Release grant for the 2022-23, 2023-24 and 2024-25 school years, the District will allow the full-time release of the MEA President. This MOU will be reviewed annually.

3.2.1 For the purpose of furthering the collaborative work of the school district, the Board shall grant leave days to Association members to participate in negotiations and professional council according to the parameters specified in the respective Articles. The cost of these days will be shared equally between the District and the Association.

The Board will also grant 10 additional days to members to conduct the business of the Association. These days will be reimbursed by MEA at the current substitute base rate of pay.

Additional days may be granted provided they are mutually agreed upon by the Association President and the Superintendent or designee.

Written requests for Association leave must be submitted to the School Director at least three (3) days in advance of use unless there is an emergency. In the event of emergency, requests must be submitted as early as possible (by telephone followed by a written request); but, in any event, prior to the use. No more than six (6) teachers District-wide shall be absent to conduct Association business at any one time.

3.3 Board Agenda, Meetings, Minutes and Policies

- 3.3.1 The Board will make available to the Association an advance copy of the agenda for each meeting of the Board. In case of a special meeting, notification shall be made as far in advance as possible to the Association. Minutes of Board meetings will be made available to the Association. Upon reasonable request, the Association shall receive available pertinent background information related to specific items on the agenda. A copy of the Agenda for Association Representative Meetings and Executive Board Meetings will be provided to the Board.
- 3.3.2 The Board will provide the Association two (2) copies of Board Policies as they are adopted. The Association will provide two (2) copies of the Agenda in 3.3.1.

3.4 Use of District Facilities

- 3.4.1 The Association, upon request to the School Director, may use District facilities for meetings and other Association business without cost where no additional cost is incurred by the District. If additional cost is incurred by the District, such cost will be borne by the Association.
- 3.4.2 The Association shall have bulletin board space provided in each building in an area normally frequented by teachers for the exclusive use of the Association for posting its materials.
- 3.4.3 The District mail service and teacher mailboxes shall be available for use by the Association to distribute newsletters, bulletins, notices, and other Association materials. All Association distributions shall be provided to all administrators.

3.5 Transactions of Association Business

3.5.1 Duly authorized representatives of the Association and its respective affiliates shall be permitted to transact official business on school property before and after the established teacher workday and during the lunch period.

- 3.5.2 It is agreed that teachers may participate in Association activities during their lunch periods and before and after the established teacher workday. Association Officers, Faculty Representatives, and committee members may participate in one Association meeting per month before or after the student school day. A current list of such representatives will be maintained by the Association with the Superintendent's Designee.
- 3.5.3 The Faculty Representative(s) may be given an opportunity at each faculty meeting for brief announcements or reports.

3.6 Teacher Representatives

Teacher representatives on District committees not otherwise provided for in this Agreement will be appointed by the Superintendent or his/her designee with approval of the Association.

ARTICLE 4 General Provisions

- 4.1 It is the intent of the Board and the Association that there be no change, alteration, modification, or rescission of the terms of this Agreement without the mutual consent of the parties in writing.
- 4.2 This Agreement constitutes officially adopted Board policy and the Board and the Association will carry out the commitments contained herein and give them full force and effect.
- 4.3 The Board shall continue its policy of not discriminating against any teacher contrary to the provision of any federal or state law, or any municipal ordinances, or because of membership in any teacher organization.
- 4.4 The Association shall continue to admit persons to membership without discrimination on the basis of race, creed, color, national origin, sex, age, disabling condition or marital status.
- 4.5 If any provision of this Agreement or any application of this Agreement to any teacher covered hereby shall be found contrary to law, such provision or application shall have effect only to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions or applications of this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect. The parties may mutually agree to open negotiations on provisions which are found to be unlawful.
- 4.6 Upon reasonable request, the parties shall provide each other with available information regarding negotiations.
- 4.7 The provisions of this Agreement shall be administered equally to all teachers within the District.
- 4.8 The provisions of this Agreement shall control where any direct conflict exists between this Agreement and Board or Association policy, practice, custom, writing or intentions not incorporated in this Agreement. Any matter not covered by the provisions of this Agreement shall be controlled by officially adopted Board policy and Administrative Regulations.
- 4.9 Any individual contract between the Board and any individual teacher heretofore or hereafter executed shall be subject to, and dependent upon, the terms and provisions of this Agreement.
- 4.10 The Association and the Board agree to provide this Agreement as finally ratified by both parties on the district website. Schools will be provided with a minimum of three (3) hard copies yearly. Distribution will be by the Association and the Board. Duplication expenses shall be equally shared.

ARTICLE 5 Negotiation Procedures

5.1 Initiation of Negotiation Procedures

- 5.1.1 The Board's team shall meet with the representatives of the Association and shall negotiate for the purpose of reaching agreements. The Board and the Association mutually pledge that the representatives selected by each shall have all necessary power and authority to make and recommend acceptance of an agreement.
- 5.1.2 Issues for negotiations shall consist of (1) salaries and benefits (2) up to 2 issues brought by the Association (3) up to 2 issues brought by the Board and (4) issues (s) mutually agreed upon prior to negotiations. Whenever feasible, issues for negotiations will be shared prior to the start of negotiations.
- 5.1.3 Negotiations shall be scheduled collaboratively between the District and Association at times, and locations agreeable to both parties. If negotiations are scheduled on workdays the cost for substitutes will be split equally between the District and Association.
- 5.1.4 The negotiation team for the Association shall include no more than seven (7) members, consisting of teachers, consultants, and observers. The negotiation team for the District shall include no more than seven (7) members, consisting of district employees, board members, consultants, and observers.

5.2 Conducting Negotiations

- 5.2.1 Negotiations will be conducted using an Interest Based Bargaining process.
- 5.2.2 Both parties will make available any pertinent information necessary for the other party to understand its proposals or counter proposals, in a timely manner. Such information shall include, but not be limited to, financial figures on salaries, budget information, numbers of people in the bargaining group and financial information pertinent to those persons and/or their status.
- 5.2.3 All press releases during negotiations shall be mutually agreed upon by both the Association and the School Board. The parties have the responsibility to inform their respective constituents regarding the progress of negotiations.
- 5.2.4 Negotiations shall be conducted in open sessions as required by Colorado law.
- 5.2.5 The Association may request additional days to prepare for bargaining per Article 3.2.1. The Association will pay for any days granted.

5.3 Adopting Agreement

- 5.3.1 Tentative agreements reached during negotiations, mediation or fact-finding will be reduced to writing and will have the conditional approval of both parties. Final agreement on any matter in negotiations is only reached when the parties have tentative agreement on all matters in negotiations. Tentative agreement by either party is necessarily conditional upon tentative agreement by both parties.
- 5.3.2 A tentative agreement is first subject to ratification by the Association in a method

determined by the Association and within 20 days of tentative agreement. Following such ratification, the tentative agreement shall be presented to the Board at a regularly scheduled meeting which shall take place within 20 days of the date the Association ratifies. After ratification by both parties, the chief officers of the Board and the Association shall sign the ratified agreement.

5.4 Mediation

- 5.4.1 If the negotiations have reached an impasse, the issues in dispute shall be submitted to a mediator for the purpose of inducing the representatives of the Board and the Association to reach a voluntary agreement. However, none of the issues, which are a subject of negotiations, may be deemed to have been agreed upon until all issues in dispute have been resolved. By mutual consent, the negotiating teams may agree upon a mediator or the procedure for selecting the mediator. In the event the negotiating teams have not so agreed, the mediator shall be selected in the manner set forth below:
- 5.4.2 If the parties cannot agree upon a mediator within five (5) days from the date impasse is declared, then either party shall request, on the sixth (6th) day, a panel of five (5) mediators from the American Arbitration Association in the following manner:
 - 5.4.2.1 The American Arbitration Association shall submit simultaneously to each party an identical list of five (5) persons skilled in mediating of education matters. Each party has five (5) days from postmarked date to postmarked date in which to strike any names to which it objects, numbering the remaining names in order of preference, and to return the list to the American Arbitration Association. If a party does not return the list within the time specified, all persons named therein shall be deemed acceptable to that party.
 - 5.4.2.2 From among the persons who have been approved on both lists, and in accordance with the designated order of mutual preference, the American Arbitration Association shall invite the acceptance of a mediator.
 - 5.4.2.3 If the parties fail to agree upon any of the persons named or if either party strikes all the names on the list, or if those named decline or are unable to act within 30 days, the American Arbitration Association shall submit an additional list to both parties. The second list will be treated as the first. If no one is selected from the second list AAA shall appoint a mediator.
- 5.4.3 The format, dates and times of meetings will be arranged by the mediator and such meetings will be conducted in closed sessions.
- 5.4.4 The mediator will meet with the Board and the Association either separately or together.
- 5.4.5 To the extent that tentative agreements are reached as a result of such mediation, the procedures provided in Section 5.3.1 and 5.3.2 shall apply. If mediation fails in whole or in part, the mediator shall provide a written report to the parties indicating the official position of the respective parties on the issues submitted when mediation is terminated.

- 5.4.6 If unresolved issues exist after mediation, the unresolved issues will be submitted to fact finding.
- 5.4.7 The costs for the services of the mediator, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel expenses, shall be shared equally by the Board and the Association.

5.5 Fact Finding

- 5.5.1 If the mediation described in Section 5.4 has not resulted in tentative agreement on all issues, the Board or the Association may terminate mediation and direct that the issues, which remain in dispute, be submitted to fact finding. In the event that the parties are unable to agree on a fact finder, the fact finder shall be selected in the manner provided in Section 5.4 for selecting a mediator.
- 5.5.2 The fact finder shall have the authority to hold hearings, make procedural rules, call witnesses, and hear sworn testimony.
- 5.5.3 All hearings by the fact finder shall be held in closed session and no release of information concerning the progress of fact-finding shall be made to the public or the press except by or at the direction of the fact finder.
- In the event that the fact finder shall elect to receive summary briefs of the position of each of the parties, such briefs shall be delivered to the fact finder no later than five (5) days following the last fact-finding hearing. The fact-finding process shall be continuous from the date it begins unless otherwise agreed to by both parties. Should either party wish to submit a brief, a case may be presented to the fact finder. The fact finder will render a decision regarding the brief(s).
- 5.5.5 Within a reasonable time after the conclusion of fact-finding hearings, but in no instance longer than 15 days, the fact finder shall submit a report in writing to the Board and the Association only and shall set forth his findings of fact, awards, recommendations, and rationale on the issues submitted. His findings shall be advisory only and binding neither on the Board nor the Association.
- 5.5.6 Within five (5) days after receiving the report of the fact finder, the representatives of the parties shall meet to discuss the report. No releases of information shall be made to the public until after such meeting.
- 5.5.7 The respective parties shall take official action on the report of the fact finder no later than 15 days after the meeting described in Section 5.5.6 above.
- 5.5.8 To the extent that tentative agreement is reached on the issues in dispute as a result of such fact-finding, the procedures provided in Section 5.3.1 and 5.3.2 shall apply.
- 5.5.9 The costs for the service of the fact finder, including per diem expenses, if any, and actual and necessary travel expenses, shall be shared equally by the Board and the Association.

ARTICLE 6 Teaching Conditions

The Board and the Association believe that teacher leadership, retention, and professional growth lead to increased student achievement. We agree to continue to reference these criteria when making decisions about working conditions.

6.1 Teacher Work Year

Memorandum of Agreement for the 2024-2025 school year

In recognition of the importance of fostering collaboration and inclusivity in the decision-making process surrounding the school calendar, the district administration and the association agree to establish a Calendar Committee. This committee will serve to provide recommendations for future school year calendars to the superintendent for board adoption. The committee shall at a minimum include district administration and licensed staff members, and will consider input from other stakeholder groups, to ensure that diverse perspectives are considered in the development of the calendar.

6.1.1 Mapleton Public Schools and the Mapleton Education Association believe the teaching profession is demanding and rewarding, requiring time and commitments beyond contractual work hours. We further assert that the people involved in this profession are committed to the interest and lives of the students we serve. We acknowledge that maintaining a balance in personal and professional lives is essential to the health and well-being of all.

For the 24-25 school year:

- The language in sections 6.1.2 and 6.1.2.1 regarding Collaborative Days will be suspended.
- Instead, five Instructional Planning days will be scheduled throughout the year. These days will
 consist only of teacher-directed time, and teachers will individually determine their work location.
 - The teacher work year shall consist of 190 days, inclusive of: Student Contact days, Work Days, Collaborative Days, Parent Teacher Conferences, Trade Days, School/District sponsored events, and Professional Development. The work week shall be an average of 40 hours and shall be flexible to meet the demands and needs of schools and staff outside the normal week or day. Workdays shall be an average of 8 hours. The teacher workday will start at least 10 minutes prior to student arrival and end 10 minutes after student dismissal.
 - 6.1.2.1 Included in the 190 workdays there will be a minimum of three teacher work days, to be free of any school or District meetings. Teachers shall have a minimum of three of the collaborative days, to prioritize being planned and prepared to deliver quality instruction. Each school will collaboratively determine when the time is scheduled ensuring it is individually teacher- directed.
 - 6.1.2.2 Teachers must have time to prepare end-of-term grades. The amount of time needed may vary between schools, grade levels, and content areas. Each school will collaboratively determine and allocate time needed to complete this task.

6.2 Teacher Work Day/Week

- 6.2.1 The Board and the Association recognize that a teacher's professional and primary responsibility and obligation is to teach.
- 6.2.2 Each school staff, inclusive of Special Service Providers (SSPs), will equitably distribute and share duties and responsibilities so that they are manageable for all. Staff meetings will be scheduled during the existing school week and shall be completed during that time. Attendance beyond the scheduled work week shall be optional.
 - 6.2.2.1 Whenever a SSP is responsible for the supervision of students on an Individualized Education Plan outside of instructional delivery, such time shall serve as part of their shared staff duties.
- Each school shall design their yearly and daily schedules to reflect the priority that teachers are able to plan and prepare to deliver quality instruction. Each school will collaboratively develop and distribute work day schedules which meet the requirements of this Article prior to September 1 of each year. As part of our commitment to inclusive and collaborative practices, SSP's will actively participate in the creation of building schedules to ensure the fulfillment of student needs. Schedules may be revised as needed throughout the school year. Teachers' time before and after school on student contact days, will reflect a balance between school-directed time and teacher-directed time. Collaboration is expected both in teacher-directed and school-directed time.
 - 6.2.3.1 Definitions of School-directed and teacher-directed time:
 - Teacher-directed time is understood to include planning and preparing for instruction, evaluating student work, and parent communication.
 - School-directed time is understood to include meetings, training, and tasks scheduled by school and District administration.
- 6.2.4 Each school shall design their workday to include a minimum 30-minute lunch time, free from regularly scheduled duties.
- 6.2.5 Each school will make every effort to schedule consecutive, equitable and adequate time for both teacher and team planning during the Teacher work day using a collaborative process. There shall be no required student supervision during plan time. While the priority is for teachers to be planned and prepared to deliver quality instruction, it is understood that professional meetings are inherent to instructional planning and may be scheduled during a teacher's planning time.
 - 6.2.5.1 SSPs shall have dedicated time, separate from their daily planning, to fulfill requirements and responsibilities related to Special Education Evaluation and Identification, Individualized Education Program (IEP) paperwork, evaluations, and assessments. There shall be no required student supervision during this dedicated time.

- 6.2.6 The number of consecutive teaching assignments and the number of different assignments will be kept to a minimum. Using a collaborative process, each school shall decide division and number of teaching assignments based on student needs, teacher expertise, and school design.
 - 6.2.6.1 If SSPs are required to take on additional teaching assignments the school must seek prior approval from the Special Education Department.
 - 6.2.6.2 The District will review and adjust caseloads for special populations as necessary. Caseloads will be determined by student needs, staff expertise, and program design.
 - 6.2.6.3 Any SSP or ELD lead may initiate a review of their workload/caseload with their school director. If not resolved, they may request a consultation or a review from the appropriate district department.

Memorandum of Agreement 2024-2025

The MEA and District administration will work together during the school year to implement the following:

Each school's Special Education (SPED) team shall schedule a meeting with a designated representative from the Special Education Department twice per academic year. These meetings will focus on reviewing caseloads/workloads, the student placement process, and schedules. Data pertaining to these processes shall be systematically collected during each meeting and subsequently reviewed in Professional Council.

- 6.2.7 Licensed staff shall be required to substitute when a classroom teacher absence is not covered, or if an emergency arises. The School Director will make every effort to obtain a substitute teacher. Prior to the first day of student contact, each school will use a collaborative process to develop a written plan for how to support students fairly and equitably in these situations. Licensed staff members will choose one of the following methods of compensation.
 - 6.2.7.1 Payment will be based on the current regular substitute rate for the current year. When a classroom group of students is divided among teachers, those teachers will divide the daily regular substitute rate. The hourly rate for substituting will be 1/7 the current regular substitute rate.
 - 6.2.7.2 Accumulated time may be applied toward time off during the normal nonstudent day. Exceptions shall be, but are not limited to, coaching, co-curricular, parent teacher conferences, scheduled meetings, and other previous contractual obligations.
- 6.2.8 Teachers will be permitted to leave school property during their assigned lunch period provided they notify the school office before leaving the school.

6.3 Classroom Interruptions

6.3.1 The Board and Association agree that unnecessary classroom interruptions are not in the best interest of good educational programs; therefore, every effort will be made by administrators and teachers to keep all classroom interruptions to a minimum.

6.4 Collection or Handling of Moneys

6.4.1 Safeguards will be maintained for those teachers authorized by the School Director for collection or handling of moneys.

6.5 Protection of Personal Property

6.5.1 The Board agrees to provide each teacher with a designated safe place in the building where personal belongings may be stored by under lock and key. If a teacher's personal property or effects have been stored in the designated safe place and are damaged, destroyed or stolen in the course of employment, and it is proven that the teacher is not negligent, then the Board will reimburse the teacher up to twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2500) for such personal property or effects upon proof of the nature and amount of loss satisfactory to the District.

6.6 Complaints Against Teachers

6.6.1 Teachers will be informed within two (2) days of complaints lodged against them. In rare instances where circumstances warrant, the timeline may be extended. The teacher will have the right to know who filed the complaint, the details of the complaint, and the opportunity to respond to the complaint. If a written complaint is filed, the teacher shall be given a copy.

6.7 Teacher Participation in Budget Development

6.7.1 The Teacher shall have input into the development of the allocated school budget. The teacher will have the right to recommend changes and priorities in the allocation of funds in that budget prior to final adoption.

6.8 Use of Time

- 6.8.1 Each school will collaboratively monitor the use of time and workload with attention to:
 - a. System priorities
 - b. School priorities
- 6.8.2 Professional Council will:
 - a. Annually review system priorities

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

During the 2024-2025 school year, Professional Council will seek input from representative groups to inform discussions concerning strategies to actualize our mutual agreement around Respect, Equity, Diversity and Inclusion (see Preamble).

b. Regularly evaluate staff workload

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT

For the 2024-2025 school year the Board has identified lowering the adult to student ratio across the district as a budget priority. In addition, Professional Council will analyze the trends, factors and processes that impact class sizes and teacher workload with the intent to identify and address issues.

c. Work with sites to adjust expectations for additional responsibilities based on those evaluations.

6.9 Change in Student's Grade

6.9.1 If the Administration feels that a student's grade must be reviewed, the teacher shall be notified. If there is disagreement, a three (3) person panel shall be appointed by the department chairperson or by the School Director where no department chairperson exists. The panel will be chosen from that department or grade level.

If the department or grade has less than three (3) persons, the panel may be rounded out from other departments or grade levels. The panel shall review all the pertinent facts and make a decision regarding the grade.

6.10 Teacher Assignments

- Non-probationary teachers will be given the opportunity to indicate in writing their preference as to subject and grade assignment for the next school year. A teacher who desires a change of assignment within a school shall submit a Preference Form to the School Director. The preference will be considered when making assignments.
- 6.10.2 No later than May 15 of each school year, except for emergencies, teachers shall be notified of the following matters concerning their tentative assignment for the succeeding year. If classes change at semester, teachers will be notified as soon as possible concerning their assignment for the following semester.
 - 6.10.2.1 Subjects and grade levels to be taught.
 - 6.10.2.2 Special or unusual classes and grade levels to be taught.

6.11 Evaluation and Observation

- 6.11.1 The Board and Association recognize that the primary purpose of evaluation is to improve professional performance of the teaching staff and to determine the continuation of employment in the District.
- 6.11.2 The Mapleton Education Association and District Administration will continue to collaborate in the implementation of Educator Effectiveness through the District Evaluation Council.
- 6.11.3 All observations of a teacher will be conducted in an open and professional

manner and with full knowledge of the teacher.

- 6.11.4 Teachers will be informed in advance of the criteria on which they will be observed and evaluated. Observation criteria will be suited to the teaching assignment of the teacher. Evaluators will use the Mapleton Public Schools Educator Effectiveness Handbook.
- 6.11.5 If the evaluator determines that the teacher has deficiencies or areas that need to be improved, the teacher shall be so informed in writing, giving specific written suggestions for improvements. The teacher shall be given a reasonable time for improvement. The evaluator will assist the teacher to overcome any identified areas of weakness or deficiency.
- 6.11.6 Teachers will normally be given a copy of all evaluations within five (5) days after such evaluation is made. A conference between the evaluator and the teacher shall be held normally within eight (8) days after the date of the evaluation to discuss the evaluation prior to the evaluation being forwarded to the District Administration Office.
- 6.11.7 Teacher signature on all evaluation forms will indicate that the teacher has read the form and will not waive the teacher's rights.
- 6.11.8 Teachers will be assured of procedural due process in any evaluation procedure adopted by the District.

6.12 Teacher Files

- Any material related to a teacher's evaluation, conduct, service, character, health or personality shall not be placed in the files unless the teacher is given the opportunity to read the material. The teacher shall acknowledge that he/she has read such material by affixing his/her signature on the actual copy to be filed, with the understanding that such signature signifies that he/she has read the material to be filed and does not necessarily indicate agreement with its content.
- The teacher shall have the right to answer any such non-confidential material filed and his/her answer shall be attached to the file copy. Teachers may grieve any non-confidential material placed in their files. Materials will be removed from the files when a teacher's claim that it is inaccurate or unfair is sustained by the grievance process.
- 6.12.3 Within one (1) day of their request, teachers shall be permitted to examine their files except for confidential material.
- 6.12.4 Teachers shall be permitted to reproduce, at their expense, any material in their files.
- 6.12.5 Any incident report placed in the file must be reduced to writing within 30 days of its occurrence.
- 6.12.6 "Confidential" as used in this Section shall refer solely to matters arising prior to the teacher's employment.

6.13 Teacher Facilities

6.13.1 The District shall provide the minimum teacher facilities listed below:

6.13.1.1 Space in each classroom where each teacher may store materials and supplies, whenever possible. 6.13.1.2 A desk, chair and lockable cabinet will be provided for each teacher, whenever possible. 6.13.1.3 Clean, well ventilated, and well lighted teacher restroom. 6.13.1.4 At least one telephone shall be made available in each school with teachers to have priority in its usage, with the understanding that such telephone(s) shall be used primarily for school-related business. The phones provided shall, whenever possible, be in a quiet and private space. 6.13.1.5 A furnished room to be used as a faculty lounge. 6.13.1.6 An effort will be made to provide adequate heating, lighting, and ventilation in all portions of the school. 6.13.1.7 A workroom for teachers containing equipment and supplies sufficient to aid in the preparation of instructional materials, whenever possible. 6.13.1.8 Parking areas and sidewalks will be provided at each school except in emergency situations. The District will make an attempt to keep

these areas clear of snow and ice during school hours.

6.14 Required Physical Examinations

6.14.1 In the event that the Board requires health exams, chest x-rays, or any other physical tests as a condition of continued employment, the Board agrees to pay for such expenses upon presentation of valid charges to the accounting office.

6.15 Small-by-Design

Mapleton Public Schools is comprised of small-by-design schools. These schools provide a variety of choices for learning to increase student performance.

We recognize that there will be evolution within each school directed toward meeting student needs. We also recognize that there will be professional development or training activities that are specific and unique to each school. Training and professional development hours may be outside the established teacher work year. Teachers will be compensated at an hourly rate of payment based on the beginning BA salary when training occurs outside the established teacher work year. Training and professional development requirements will be determined by the school district based on school model and program needs.

ARTICLE 7 Collaborative Leadership

The District and the MEA believe that shared ownership of school operations and collaborative decision- making lead to improved learning environments and increased student achievement.

Implementation of the District's instructional program is complex and is best accomplished when there is mutual understanding among a school's administration and teachers, and a joint commitment to problem solving. Such an atmosphere recognizes the authority of the director and the professionalism of teachers. Collaborative processes will be employed at each school to make decisions within the parameters established by Board policy, the District's strategic plan, the school's mission and model, the school's improvement plan, and applicable law. While both parties agree that collaborative decisions are best, it is acknowledged that there may be times when a school director will need to make decisions independently.

At a minimum, each school must employ an inclusive and collaborative process to attend to the tasks assigned to school leadership in Article 6. The full staff at each school shall determine whether these leadership tasks are addressed by the full staff, a smaller representative group, or another existing team. This collaborative team(s) shall seek input from those directly affected by decisions, ensuring representation and voice. The process of communication will be determined by the team.

ARTICLE 8 Vacancies and Involuntary Transfers

8.1 The Board and the Association agree that teachers be given consideration regarding their preference in assignment. All vacancies shall be filled based on program needs and qualifications.

8.2 Vacancies

- 8.2.1 School Directors will, through the Superintendent's Designee, announce and post all intra-school vacancies when they occur or become known. Teachers within that school will have five (5) school days from the date of posting in which to apply for the vacancy. If this vacancy is not filled by an intra-schoolteacher, then the vacancy will be posted as stated in Section 8.3.3.
- 8.2.2 Teachers returning from leave may apply for any school vacancies posted for the school to which they were assigned when their leave commenced.
- 8.2.3 All school vacancies shall be posted on the District's website for at least five (5) days as these vacancies occur. Teachers will be given the opportunity to apply for these vacancies or openings as they are posted. Applications will be submitted to the Superintendent's Designee.
- 8.2.4 Teachers returning from any leave of absence will be notified all available vacancies for the next school year and may apply for these vacancies as they are posted. To ensure positions, these teachers may also be assigned to positions by the Superintendent's Designee.
- 8.2.5 Notification of vacancies occurring after the regular school year will be posted on the District website as well as e-mailed to all district staff via the district e-mail system. During the ten calendar days prior to the first teacher workday, the five (5) day posting may be waived.
- 8.2.6 All qualified in-district applicants for teacher vacancies shall be interviewed by the appropriate administrator and school hiring team when possible. Each interviewed applicant shall be notified in writing of the disposition of his/her application.
- 8.2.7 The Association and Board of Education agree that collaboration in the teacher hiring process is desirable and that every opportunity should be given to district teachers to provide their input on hiring teams. We collectively understand that circumstances may lead to the need for hiring decisions to be made by administration without consultation. We understand this should not be a consistent occurrence and all efforts will be made to follow the above philosophy. Finally, we agree that the Superintendent will make final hiring recommendations to the Board of Education.

8.3 Involuntary Transfers

- 8.3.1 An administrative or involuntary transfer may be necessary for the following reasons:
 - 8.3.1.1 A reduction in student body enrollment within the District, a school,

department, grade level or team.

- 8.3.1.2 To fill assignments which cannot be accommodated by new hires and district vacancy posting procedures, the administration may involuntarily transfer the least senior qualified district person to that position.
- 8.3.1.3 Changes in a program.
- 8.3.1.4 School closure or merger.
 - 8.3.1.4.1 School closure is defined as a time when a school is no longer functioning as a school and when the staff will be assigned to more than one school within the District.
 - 8.3.1.4.2 School merger is defined as a time when a school is no longer functioning as a school facility and when the staff from the affected school will be assigned to one school within the District.
 - 8.3.1.4.3 Non-Probationary teachers not assigned as a result of this process will be reassigned in accordance with the involuntary transfer provisions of Section 8.3.3 of this Article.
- 8.3.2 When an involuntary transfer is necessary, teachers will be retained in a school based on:
 - Program Needs
 - 2. Qualifications
 - 3. Length of service; teachers will be considered on the basis of greatest length of service in the District, school, department, grade level/team.

In the case of a merger, before final decisions are made regarding retention in the school, a committee comprised of two administrators (one from the school, one from outside the school) and two teachers (one MEA member from the school, and one from outside the school) shall recommend the teaching assignments that best meet program needs. The committee members from outside the school must be mutually agreed upon by the two school committee members. Final decision will be made by the Board.

- 8.3.3 Involuntary transferees resulting from a school closure or merger shall be given a list of all available positions within the District. Transferees will provide to the Superintendent's Designee a list stating their first, second, and third preferences from the available positions. Whenever feasible, making assignments in conjunction with length of service, qualifications and previous service, the District will honor one of the three preferences.
 - 8.3.3.1 The Superintendent may initiate an involuntary transfer only during the academic school year and only when positions are available.
- 8.3.4 Procedure for transferring teachers in-voluntarily for educationally sound reasons:

- 8.3.4.1 The Superintendent may initiate an involuntary transfer only during the academic school year and only when positions are available.
- 8.3.4.2 Within ten working days of notification of a transfer, the transferee can appeal the superintendent's decision to a hearing panel.
- 8.3.4.3 The hearing panel will be composed of two members of the board of education, two association members and an administrator from outside the affected school(s) who has been jointly selected by the panel.

Upon receipt of the appeal, the hearing panel must schedule a hearing within five (5) working days. The hearing panel will review the verbal testimony and written documentation of the Superintendent and the teacher and render a written decision within five working days after the hearing.

ARTICLE 9 Grievance Procedure

9.1 Definitions

- 9.1.1 A grievance shall mean an allegation by a teacher that there has been a violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the provisions of this Agreement or of Board Policy or that his/her health or safety has been jeopardized. The term "grievance" shall not apply to any matter as to which the method of review is prescribed by law or the Board is without authority to act.
- 9.1.2 As used in this Article, the term "teacher" shall mean (a) an individual teacher as defined in Article 2, or (b) a group of teachers having the same grievance, or (c) the Association.
- 9.1.3 The term DAY shall mean school day, unless otherwise specified.

9.2 Purpose

9.2.1 The purpose of this procedure is to secure equitable solutions at the lowest possible administrative level to the problems, which may, from time to time, arise affecting the welfare or working conditions of teachers. Both parties agree that personnel grievance proceedings will be kept confidential.

9.3 Procedures

9.3.1 <u>Level One.</u> Within 20 days of the alleged grievance, the teacher may first discuss the grievance informally with his/her School Director or supervisor. If unresolved within five (5) days of this informal discussion, the grievance will be presented in writing with the objective of resolving the matter formally.

Within five (5) days of presenting the grievance in writing, a formal Level One hearing will he held. At this time, the aggrieved person may: a) discuss the grievance personally; b) request that the Association's representative accompany him/her; or c) request that the Association's representative act in his/her behalf. The School Director or immediate supervisor shall write and sign his/her grievance decisions at Level One within five (5) days of the Level One hearing and will transmit copies to the grievant and Association.

<u>Level Two.</u> If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level One or if no decision has been rendered within five (5) days after the Level One hearing, the grievance may be filed in writing with the Association within five (5) days. Such grievance may then be filed by the Association with the Superintendent within 10 days of the Level One decision.

The Superintendent's designee shall conduct a Level Two hearing with the aggrieved person and the Association's representative in an effort to resolve the grievance. Such hearing will take place within five (5) days after receipt of the written grievance by the Superintendent.

Decisions rendered at Level Two of the grievance procedure will be in writing within five (5) days after the hearing described above setting forth the decision and the reasons therefore and will be transmitted promptly to all parties and to the Association.

The grievant shall have the right to present any witnesses, written statements from witnesses, and other documents pertinent to the grievance for the consideration of the proper parties at the respective steps of this procedure.

<u>Level Three.</u> If the aggrieved person is not satisfied with the disposition of the grievance at Level Two, or if the decision has not been rendered within five (5) days after the Superintendent's designee has heard the grievance, the grievance may be filed with the Association within five (5) days after the grievance decision has been rendered at Level Two. If the Association deems the grievance meritorious, it may proceed to arbitration within fifteen (15) days after receipt of the grievance.

In the event the parties are unable to agree upon an arbitrator within five (5) days, then the American Arbitration Association will be notified immediately by the moving party and an arbitrator will be selected. The selection of an arbitrator shall follow the procedure outlined by the American Arbitration Association. A copy of the arbitration request will be submitted to the other party.

The arbitrator shall be bound by all terms of this Agreement. He/she shall have no power to add to, delete, or modify in any way, any of the provisions of this Agreement. He/she will issue a report within 15 calendar days after the date of the close of the hearings. The decision of the arbitrator shall be advisory upon both parties.

Sixty percent (60%) of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be paid by the non-prevailing party. Forty percent (40%) of the fees and expenses of the arbitrator shall be paid by the prevailing party. The arbitrator's report shall be submitted in writing to the Board and the Association only and shall set forth the findings of fact, rationale, conclusions, and recommendations on the issues submitted.

Within five (5) days after receipt of the arbitrator's report, the Board and the Association will meet to discuss the report. No public releases of information may be made until after such meeting.

The Board shall take official action on the report of the arbitrator within 20 days.

9.4 General Provisions

- 9.4.1 Copies of written grievances and decisions rendered will be transmitted promptly to the aggrieved person(s), the School Director or supervisor, the Association Grievance Committee Chairperson and President, and the Superintendent.
- 9.4.2 No reprisals of any kind will be taken by the Board of Education or by any member of the administration against any teacher or Association representative for using this procedure or any participant in testifying or giving information if it is a part of this procedure.
- 9.4.3 The Association shall have the right to initiate a grievance or an appeal from the disposition of a grievance of a teacher or group of teachers at any step of this procedure.
 - 9.4.4 No grievance may be submitted to arbitration except by the Association.
- 9.4.5 Failure at any step of this procedure to communicate the decision in writing on a grievance within the specified time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step. Failure at any step of this procedure to appeal to the next step within the specified time limits shall be deemed to be acceptance of the decision rendered at that step.

- 9.4.6 All documents, communications and records dealing with the proceedings of a grievance shall be filed separately from the personnel files of the participants.
- 9.4.7 Forms for filing grievances, serving notices, taking appeals, reports and recommendations and other necessary documents will be prepared jointly by the Superintendent and the Association so as to facilitate operation of the grievance procedure. The costs of preparing such forms shall be borne equally by the Board and the Association.
- 9.4.8 The Board agrees to make available to any aggrieved person and/or person's representative all pertinent information relevant to the issues raised by the grievance, except that which is confidential.
- 9.4.9 Should the investigation or processing of any grievance hearing require that a teacher or an Association representative be released from his/her regular assignment as a result of a request by the School District or Association, such individual shall be released without loss of pay or benefits to participate in the hearing. The cost of replacement teachers will be borne equally by the Association and the Board.
- 9.4.10 No grievance shall be recognized by the Board or Association unless they shall have been presented at the appropriate level within twenty (20) days after knowledge of the act, failure to act, or condition on which the grievance is based occurred. If not so presented, the right of grievance will be forfeited.
- 9.4.11 A grievance initiated during the time school is not in regular session will commence at Level Two, provided the School Director or immediate supervisor is not available to meet the time limits specified in this grievance procedure.
- 9.4.12 After Level One, no new grievance issue may be introduced and after Level Two,no new evidence may be introduced at subsequent grievance hearings.
- Any time limits set forth in this Article may be extended or waived by mutual agreement of the parties provided the extension of waiver is in writing.

ARTICLE 10 Academic Freedom

- **10.1** The parties recognize that democratic values can best be transmitted in an atmosphere which is conducive to inquiry and learning, and in which academic freedom for the teacher and the student is encouraged.
- The parties hereto agree that academic freedom must include requirements that all teachers present all sides of controversial issues on subjects within the established course of studies. Age and maturity of the students, as well as District policies (Board and Superintendent IMB/IMB-R, teaching about Controversial/Sensitive Issues) requiring prior approval of certain content/presentations must guide teachers in dealing with controversial issues.

ARTICLE 11 Curriculum Development

- **11.1** The Board and the Association agree to involve teachers in development, implementation, and evaluation of curriculum. Teachers shall be nominated by the Superintendent or his/her designee with the Association's approval.
- **11.2** The curriculum hourly rate of payment will be based on the beginning BA salary.
 - Contract for Services: A mutually agreed upon contract amount for the stipulated product and flexibility in payment for teacher-student based programs might be negotiated commensurate with funding from outside sources.
- 11.3 New programs approved by the Board may be preceded by in-service education of teachers as provided by the Department of Learning Services. Materials and equipment to support such programs will be provided.
- 11.4 For the purpose of this Article, "Curriculum Development" shall be defined as: Design, revision and/or modification of District-wide curricula offerings resulting in a "product to be utilized in classrooms." Payment will be made for those projects, which are approved in advance by the Executive Director of Learning Services. Such approval shall be in writing and shall specify: (1) number of hours, (2) timelines, and (3) format of the expected product.

ARTICLE 12 Professional Council

- 12.1 The Board and the Association recognize that they have a common responsibility beyond their collective bargaining relationship to further the collaborative work of the District.
- 12.2 In recognition of the Association's interest and professional expertise in educational matters Professional Council will be maintained.
- The Professional Council shall be composed of the President, two, (2) members of the Association appointed by the President, the Superintendent or designee, and two (2) persons designated by the Superintendent. The composition of Professional Council may be altered by mutual agreement.
- The Professional Council shall meet at the request of the Association President or the Superintendent to discuss and study subjects of concern.
- The Professional Council may recommend the appointment of committees composed of teachers and administrators to study and report on agreed subjects. On completion of the study and a report to the Council on the subject assigned to it, each committee shall be considered dissolved, and once dissolved, no committee shall be reactivated except by mutual consent of the members of the Professional Council.
- 12.6 The clerical expenses of the Professional Council and its subcommittees shall be shared equally by the Association and the Board.
- Association representatives on the Professional Council may, at Board and Association request, be released from school duties for meetings on the Professional Council without loss of salary or leave days. Members of subcommittees may also be excused at Board and Association request without loss of salary or leave days under the same conditions. Cost of replacement teachers shall be shared equally.
- The Association and the Superintendent or designee shall prepare a mutually agreed upon agenda in advance of the meeting.

ARTICLE 13 Sick Leave Bank

13.1 The Board and the Association agree to maintain a Sick Leave Bank for the duration of this contract.

13.2 Operational Guidelines

- 1. Effective August 2006, all current District teachers and all new hires shall automatically belong to the Sick Leave Bank unless the teacher completes and submits the opt-out form to the sick bank chairperson prior to August 15 of each year. The decision to not participate may be reversed within seven (7) school days after August 15. After this time period, the decision is permanent. Only teachers who contribute the assessment will be eligible to participate in the Bank. Membership is effective until Sick Bank days are depleted, and an additional assessment is made. If Sick Bank days are depleted, the Sick Bank Board will require one (1) additional day be donated to the Bank by each member. Teachers, who do not belong to the Sick Leave Bank, may not join the bank until the next open enrollment period during August of the following school year.
- 2. New teachers may opt out within 10 days if hired after the start of the school year.
- 3. Half-time teachers will contribute one-half (1/2) day and will be eligible for a maximum benefit forty-five (45) days.
- 4. Only teachers who contribute will be eligible to participate in the Sick Leave Bank. Benefits of the Bank shall be restricted solely to a physical or mental condition or illness of members that renders the member unable to work, as verified by a doctor only. Pregnancy, by itself is not considered an illness or condition eligible for sick bank. Leave due to complications of pregnancy and/or after delivery (including C-sections), or recovery from delivery will be considered per Operational Guidelines. Cases of job-connected absences are not eligible for Sick Bank use; however, they are covered by Worker's Compensation benefits. Additional training time related to Choices for Learning Schools will not be covered by the sick bank. The only days eligible for sick bank coverage will be those scheduled days that count toward the 190 contracted. These days will be determined from each individual school calendar.
- 5. Previously approved unpaid Board leave cannot be converted to paid leave through the sick bank.
- 6. The first seven (7) days for first year teachers and the first 15 days for all other teachers of sick leave used consecutively for each illness EACH SCHOOL YEAR by a teacher will not be covered by the Bank, but must be covered by the teacher's own accumulated leave or leave days without pay. Each year, after the initial request, and prior to each succeeding request from an individual member, the first 15 consecutive days of leave for each illness will not be covered by the Bank, but must be covered by the teacher's own accumulated leave or leave without pay. The Sick Leave Bank Board may make exceptions.
- 7. All applications for benefits of the Sick Bank will be made in writing on the appropriate application form provided by the Sick Bank Board. The forms are available from the Sick Bank Chairperson. Applications for benefits will be sent directly to the Sick Bank Chairperson. All applications must be accompanied by a doctor's statement specifying the nature of the illness, the days and extensiveness of medical service to the teacher, and the date of the patient's release for return to teaching duties. Application is necessary for each illness. At the discretion of the Sick Leave Bank, an additional doctor's statement obtained

from a doctor chosen from a list of doctors supplied by the Sick Leave Bank Board may be required. Initial application for benefits may begin on the first duty day of the school year. Doctor notes must specify that the teacher is unable to work due to condition/illness. Applications accompanied by notes that "recommend" or "suggest" that the teacher not work shall not be considered for application to the sick bank. FMLA forms will not be accepted in lieu of doctor notes.

- 8. A maximum of 90 days each school year/illness (45 for ½ time) may be drawn by any one member. These days may be granted in increments smaller than 90 days at the discretion of the Sick Leave Bank Board. Beginning with the 2006 school year there shall be a vesting process for the sick bank. All teachers that were members in the 2005 school year will be fully vested if they do not opt out for the 2006 school year. The vesting process for all others shall be as follows:
 - a. The first year a teacher belongs to the sick bank, they shall be eligible for a total of 10 days from the sick bank.
 - b. The second consecutive year a teacher belongs to the sick bank, they shall be eligible for an additional 15 days for a total of 25 days from the sick bank.
 - c. The third consecutive year a teacher belongs to the sick bank, they shall be eligible for a total of 90 days from the sick bank.

If at any time, a teacher chooses to opt out of the sick bank, they must begin the vesting process again.

- 9. The Sick Leave Bank Board is composed of five (5) persons. Four (4) persons will be appointed by the Association President and confirmed by the Executive Committee. Terms on the Sick Leave Bank Board shall be one (1) year. At least one (1) member of the Association Executive Committee will be a member of the Sick Leave Bank Board. One (1) person from the district administration shall be a member of the Sick Leave Bank Board. Responsibility for administration of the Sick Bank is vested in the Sick Bank Board. Should a dispute arise or should the number of days requested exceed the number of days remaining in the Sick Bank, final disposition will be rendered by the Sick Bank Board and may not be grieved. A simple majority of the Sick Bank is necessary for decisions regarding the use of the Bank. Members of the Sick Leave Bank Board shall be limited to members of the Mapleton Education Association, except for the administrative position. Appointment to the Sick Leave Bank Board will be made by June 15 for the succeeding school year from a list of interested applicants submitted to the Association President.
- 10. Failure to comply with any of the established guidelines will result in termination of membership in the Sick Bank.
- 11. If an application or accompanying doctor's note is not submitted as soon as practicable within 30 days of medical need, the Sick Bank Board is not obligated to consider the application. Applications or notes submitted more than 30 days following onset will not be considered.

ARTICLE 14 Student Discipline

Safety, order, and student discipline are fundamental to learning. The MEA and District Administration recognize that a multitude of factors contribute to student engagement and behavior. We are committed to evaluating and addressing these factors which include, but are not limited to: relationships, mental health, curriculum, instruction, environmental influences, extra-curricular programming, and enrichment experiences. We will continue to work together to improve the capacity of each school and its staff to appropriately support students.

14.1 The Board recognizes that the teacher is the primary agent for the maintenance of good classroom discipline. Therefore, the Board recognizes its responsibility to give assistance so that teachers can maintain control and discipline while engaged in their duties and responsibilities as teachers.

The Board also recognizes that children who disrupt the school program often have learning needs regarding appropriate behavior. Discipline should be preventative and supportive as well as corrective. Students who are persistent in infringing upon the rights of other students to learn, who depreciate the efforts of teachers, who interfere with the operations of the school, and/or are resistant to initial teacher/school interventions, will be subject to Board policy regarding habitually disruptive students.

While prevention, in-class behavioral interventions, and restorative practices are preferable, some extreme and/or dangerous behaviors directed toward staff and/or students require classroom removal of a student, consistent with Board policy. Especially in these situations, all staff are expected to communicate clearly, follow Board policy, and collaborate in implementing a resolution, with the goal of having staff and students feel safe and supported in the classroom when the student returns.

14.2 The proactive development and ongoing maintenance of a positive school climate and culture including school-wide student behavior management system, is the responsibility of the whole school staff. Each school must have a deliberate approach to developing their culture including addressing student behavior which is consistent with the District expectations and Board policy.

The District, as well as individual schools, will continue to prioritize consistent enforcement of the student behavior standards and professional development for all staff in areas such as relevant policy/procedures and best practices in prevention, management, de-escalation, and social/emotional education.

14.3 Prior to the first day of student contact, each school shall have a collaborative conversation regarding the school's philosophy and system for addressing student behavior. This work may be revised as needed.

ARTICLE 15 Teacher Protection from Assaults

- 15.1 Any case of assault upon a teacher shall be reported promptly and within five (5) days in writing to the School Director or other appropriate administrator by that teacher or any other teacher observing or having knowledge of the assault.
- 15.2 When arising out of and/or in the course of a teacher's employment and the proper discharge of teaching duties, as determined by administrative review, a teacher's clothing or personal effects are damaged or destroyed as a result of willful malice, the Board will reimburse the teacher for the cost of the repair or replacement in the amount not to exceed twenty-five hundred dollars (\$2500).
- 15.3 Whenever a teacher is absent from school as a result of a personal injury caused by an assault arising out of and/or in the course of employment, a full salary will be paid for a period of thirty (30) work days. Days of absence in excess of 30 days shall follow Board policy regarding Workers' Compensation.
- **15.4** Administrative review decisions shall be subject to review through the Grievance Procedure.
- **15.5** Provisions of this Article shall refer to assaults by parents, students or persons not associated with the schools.

ARTICLE 16 Reduction in Force

- 16.1 A reduction or decrease in the number of teaching positions shall be in accordance with Section 22-63-112, Subsection 3 of the Colorado School Laws, as amended.
- 16.2 In the event of a justifiable reduction in the number of teaching positions requiring cancellation of employment contracts with one or more teachers, the following procedures shall be followed:
 - 16.2.1 Notice of Anticipated Reduction. The Board shall prepare a statement identifying the program area, or endorsement area or the like where the reduction in teaching positions requiring cancellation of employment contracts is anticipated. This statement will be promptly transmitted to the Association and the teaching staff.
 - 16.2.2 The Superintendent will submit to the Board recommendations for canceling the employment of particular teachers. The Superintendent's recommendations for cancellation will be consistent with the following:
 - (a) Probationary teachers within a program or an endorsement area identified for reduction will be canceled first.
 - (b) Non-probationary teachers shall be selected for cancellation on the basis of seniority, the least senior being reduced first, however, provided that the District may retain any teachers where qualifications (endorsement area, certification, experience, educational preparation and training and ESEA requirements for Teaching Assignments) are determined by the District to be necessary (or important) to the continuation of District programs.
 - (c) Non-probationary teachers identified for cancellation of employment within a program or endorsement area may displace any probationary teacher in another program or endorsement area provided the non-probationary teacher is qualified to perform the duties of the position. In determining qualification, the District will consider endorsement area, certification, experience and educational preparation and training, where applicable.
- 16.3 The above criteria shall be the only criteria used for reduction in force of non-probationary teachers. Evaluations shall be considered, as an exception to the above, in cases where seniority and qualifications are equal.
- 16.4 The Board shall make reasonable efforts to notify the faculty affected by the required reduction as soon as practicable. At the time of such notice, the Board shall indicate the reason for the reduction. In the event of any dispute concerning the application of the provisions of this Article, teachers may file a grievance pursuant to the grievance procedures set forth in this Agreement. The Board and the association agree that the grievance procedure set forth in this Agreement shall satisfy any requirement of a hearing which may be called for under state law or court decision.
- 16.5 When openings are identified by the District, which they desire to fill, openings shall be offered to those teachers who were subjected to a reduction in force. Offers of re-employment shall be extended to qualified teachers in order of seniority if more than one teacher is qualified for the position. Offers of re-employment shall be mailed to the last known address of the teacher.
- **16.6** A teacher whose employment has been canceled pursuant to a reduction in force under this

Article and who has been offered a position of employment shall accept or reject the position within ten (10) days of receipt of said notification. Failure of a teacher to accept a position during that period for which he or she is qualified shall terminate any further obligation on the part of the District.

16.7 The temporary separation of a teacher due to reduction in force shall be considered an approved leave of absence and will not affect accumulated benefits under provisions of the current agreement if the teacher is rehired within fifteen (15) months of the date of termination.

ARTICLE 17 Sick/Personal Leave

- 17.1 We believe that all 190 teacher contract days are essential to student success and advancing student learning. Additionally, teacher participation on Professional Development and Collaborative days serves to foster a culture of collaboration and a focus on student achievement. Absence by teachers shall be governed by the provisions of this article.
 - 17.1.1 All full-time teachers shall be granted 10 days leave per school year. All 10 days may be taken as sick leave. During each school year a maximum of four (4) leave days may be used for business that cannot be taken care of during the normal school day or for attendance at conferences or workshops.
 - 17.1.1.1 A part-time teacher shall be granted sick/personal leave days on a prorata basis based upon the part-time teacher's contractual services as it relates to a full-time teacher's contractual service. For purposes of this article only, a part-time teacher shall mean a teacher who has less than a full-time assignment.
 - 17.1.2 At the end of each school year, all unused leave days transfer to the next year as sick days. Unused sick leave may be accrued to a maximum of 150 days.
 - 17.1.3 An employee shall be credited with a full leave allowance at the beginning of the school year. In the event that a contract is terminated prior to the termination date stated thereon and the employee has used more days than he/she has accrued, a daily pro rata reduction will be made on the final paycheck of the employee.
 - 17.1.4 Employees on any type of leave covered in other Articles of this Agreement shall neither accumulate nor lose leave. Upon returning to duty, the employee will begin with the total accumulated leave accrued at the time when the leave commenced.
 - 17.1.5 An employee who anticipates an extended absence from the job for reasons of maternity, elective surgery or other medical problems shall notify the Personnel Office as soon as such absence can reasonably be anticipated.
 - 17.1.6 Employees who retire from the District under favorable conditions (i.e., under conditions other than discharge or constructive discharge), after 20 years of experience within the District, will be compensated at the rate of one hundred percent (100%) of the regular substitute teacher rate in effect on the employee's date of retirement for all unused sick leave.
 - 17.1.7 Up to 30 days of leave may be used for Maternity, Paternity or Adoption reasons. The employee must notify Human Resources when such leave begins.
 - 17.1.8 Any teacher using leave for an extended period of illness or under any circumstances where there is a factual basis to support that the provisions of this Article are being abused may, at the Board's expense, be required by the Board to provide a medical statement or to submit to a medical examination.
 - 17.1.9 Sick/personal leave may not be used for recreational purposes.
- 17.2 The District shall have the right to reasonably inquire regarding use of leave. Upon return to work after an illness or disability, the teacher must complete a Leave Report Form provided by the District.

17.3 The Board and Association recognize the importance of instructional continuity to long term academic success for students. To promote this goal, teachers can submit for payment up to five (5) unused leave days at the end of the school year using the following table:

<u>Days Used</u>	<u>Rate</u>
0-1	\$180.00/Day
2-3	\$160/day

Payout to be in June of each year. Teachers must carry forward a minimum of five (5) sick leave days into the next academic year.

- *Days donated to the sick bank do not count as a use of leave days for the purposes of buyback.
- 17.3.1 Misuse of any leave outlined in this agreement may result in disqualification for payout as defined in 17.3.
- Misuse of leave as outlined in this Article will result in loss of misused leave day(s) and pay at the employee's per diem rate.

ARTICLE 18 Bereavement Leave

- 18.1 The Board will grant all employees up to three (3) days of bereavement leave for a death that occurs within the State of Colorado and up to five (5) days when the death occurs outside of the State of Colorado. The bereavement leave is applicable for each death, where the employee is directly affected by a significant human loss.
- 18.2 In exceptional cases where extension of bereavement leave is necessary, additional days will be deducted from the employee's established sick/personal leave.
- **18.3** Bereavement leave will be non-accumulating and must be taken immediately following a death or at the time of the memorial service.
- 18.4 Within 30 days upon return from Bereavement Leave, the employee will complete a form documenting the use of the Bereavement Leave. Any use of Bereavement Leave is subject to review by the Superintendent's designee.
- **18.5** Misuse of leave as outlined in this Article will result in loss of sick/personal leave days, and/or pay at the employee's per diem rate.

ARTICLE 19 Other Types of Leaves

All leave granted under this section will be recommended by the Superintendent to the Board for approval and, if granted, all existing provisions for increase in salary will be implemented according to existing policy. Any teacher with probationary status granted a leave will have their probationary status extended for an additional year. Any teacher on any type of extended leave must notify the Personnel Office in writing by April 1 if he/she desires to return to work the following year. Return at any time from an extended leave other than that at the beginning of the school year shall be at the discretion of the Board and conditional upon the availability of a position for which the teacher is qualified.

19.1 Extended Leaves

19.1.1 General Guidelines

- 19.1.1.1 Leave not covered by the previous Articles will be covered by the provisions of this Article and the conditions stated herein.
- 19.1.1.2 The Board will make an effort following any extended leave to return the teacher as nearly as possible to the same or a comparable assignment.
- 19.1.1.3 All benefits accrued by the teacher prior to being granted any unpaid leave of absence will be restored and continued at the time of return to regular duty assignment within the District.
- 19.1.1.4 Should an extension of time be needed for the purpose of continuing any type of leave of absence in effect, such request for an extension will be submitted in writing to the Office of the Superintendent. The Superintendent will forward such request with an appropriate recommendation to the Board for extension or rejection of the request proposed.

19.1.2 Maternity/Paternity Leave

19.1.2.1 Maternity/Paternity or Adoption Leave. Teachers will be granted maternity/paternity or adoption leave up to one (1) year without pay or increment. The teacher shall notify the Superintendent, in writing, at least 30 days prior to the date they wish to begin leave or the official date of receiving an infant child from the agency granting adoption. The Board, at its sole discretion, may grant a second year of unpaid leave upon request of the teacher.

19.1.3 Peace Corps/Teacher Corps

19.1.3.1 Peace Corps/Teacher Corps District teachers who join Peace Corps or Teacher Corps, subject to the above, shall be granted a leave of absence without pay, not to exceed two (2) years.

19.1.4 Military Leave

19.1.4.1 Military Leave of Absence. Military leave of absence without pay shall be granted to a permanent teacher member inducted into the Armed Services for the required length of service, according to the terms of the Selective Service and Training Act of 1940, as amended, by the Congress of the United States.

19.1.5 Military Training Leave

19.1.5.1 Military Training Leave. A teacher belonging to a Guard or Reserve unit will be allowed to take up to 15 calendar days per year of time off from his/her regular duties for military training. A leave not to exceed fifteen (15) calendar days per year shall be without any loss of pay provided that the teacher on such military leave shall turn over to the District payment received for such services, and no deduction shall be made from the teacher's salary because of being on military leave up to 15 calendar days.

19.1.6 President or Member Leave

19.1.6.1 President or Member Leave. A leave of absence shall be granted to the president of the Mapleton Education Association without pay. Such leave shall be granted up to one (1) year. If a member of the local is elected to a state or national office, that member shall be granted a leave of absence without pay up to three (3) years.

19.1.7 Field of Study

19.1.7.1 Leaves may be granted up to two (2) years where a specific field of study would be beneficial to the teacher and the District. Leave granted under this section will include programs of study under the auspices of the National Science Foundation (NSF) or ESEA, or other appropriate national, state, or private agency established to further the goals of public education.

19.1.8 Family Care

19.1.8.1 Leaves of absence without pay may be granted to a teacher where the services of that teacher are required to care for an individual in the teacher's immediate family. This leave may be granted for up to one (1) year.

19.1.9 Public, State, National Office

19.1.9.1 A leave of absence will be granted to a teacher who wins election to a public, local, state, or national office. Such leave shall be extended over the period for which the individual teacher serves in that elected office. The leave will be without pay, negotiated salary increases will be granted in cases where more than one-half of a school year is completed in a regular District assignment.

19.1.10 Other Leaves

19.1.10.1 Other leaves of absence without pay may be considered on their own merits and recommended to the Board under the provisions of Section 20.1.1 of this Article.

19.2 Temporary Leaves

19.2.1 General Guidelines

19.2.1.1 The District shall have the right to reasonably inquire regarding use of leave. Misuse of leave as outlined in this Article will result in loss of sick/personal leave days, and/or pay at the employee's per diem rate.

19.2.2 Conference and Visitation Leave

- 19.2.2.1 Teachers may apply for leave to visit other schools, classrooms, industry, and attend conferences.
- 19.2.2.2 Request for a conference or a visitation will be made directly to the School Director or supervisor for appropriate action. Reasonable efforts will be made to allocate the available days among the teachers who request days taking into consideration unanticipated needs.

19.2.3 Jury Duty

19.2.3.1 Teachers who are called for jury duty shall receive full salary during the period of absence provided the teacher remits to the District an amount equal to the compensation paid to them for such court duty, except for mileage.

19.3 Sabbatical Leave

- 19.3.1 A teacher on sabbatical leave shall retain all non-probationary rights, scheduled salary increases granted to teachers and all other benefits granted.
- 19.3.2 Request for sabbatical leave shall be filed with the Superintendent of Schools not later than February 15 AND become effective the following August for one (1) full year. In special circumstances, requests for sabbatical leave may be less than one (1) full year but must be submitted to the Superintendent and approved by the School Board.
- 19.3.3 The applicant shall have completed at least six (6) consecutive full years of service in the District prior to being granted a sabbatical leave and shall complete six (6) additional consecutive years to be eligible for an additional sabbatical leave.
- The number of leaves granted will be determined by the Board. Such number will be at least one (1) per one hundred (100) or fraction thereof in the total unit, if the number of applicants equal or exceeds such quota.
- 19.3.5 Sabbatical leaves shall be granted only for a Board approved scholarly program, travel, education, or research contributing to the District. If a teacher on sabbatical leave deviates from the Board approved program without the written permission

of the Superintendent, he/she must reimburse the District for any compensation received pursuant to Section 19.1.5.

- 19.3.6 A teacher on full year sabbatical leave shall receive fifty percent (50%) of his/her regular salary at the time application for leave is approved by the Board, or fifty percent (50%) salary for one-half year leave, paid similarly.
- 19.3.7 If, in the judgment of the Board, the programs of two or more applicants are equal, then the applicant with the greatest length of service in the District shall be awarded the leave.
- 19.3.8 A teacher on sabbatical leave will be guaranteed a position upon his/her return to the District, subject to the provisions of Article 16 (Reduction in Force).

ARTICLE 20 Salaries and Benefits

20.1 Salaries

The Board and the Association believe that high quality teachers are critical to the success of our students. To that end, we agree that a competitive compensation system supports the work of the District and values the contributions of professionals in our system. We agree to annually review the Teacher Salary Schedule during negotiations, to ensure it is helping to recruit and retain effective student-focused staff. The annual review will include metro area salary schedule comparisons, COLA, and inflation.

For the 2024-25 school year there will be a 5.27% percent increase to the Salary Schedules (Appendices I, II, and III). These new schedules will be in effect for the 2024-2025 and 2025-2026 school years. Eligible licensed employees will move one vertical step where applicable and that horizontal movement will be honored for teachers who have submitted the required documentation. Beginning with the 2024-25 school year, teachers who have completed 20 years of service in the District AND have no available step in their educational lane will receive an annual \$1500 longevity bonus. The \$1500 will be added to their annual salary and will be paid out with their regular paychecks.

- 20.1.1 The salaries for all full-time and part-time licensed teachers, librarians, nurses, counselors, speech/language specialists, psychologists, social workers, and other special services personnel shall be determined by their placement in the teachers' salary schedule attached as Appendix I.
 - 20.1.1.1 Salary for new to Mapleton licensed staff includes attendance at New Teacher Orientation.
 - 20.1.1.2 Salary for new-to-career licensed staff holding a provisional license includes attendance at New Teacher Orientation and participation in the induction program.
- A part-time teacher, librarian, nurse, counselor, speech/language specialist, psychologist, social worker, or special services provider will receive the same salary and benefits as stated in this Article on a pro-rated basis.
- 20.1.3 The District will direct deposit payroll on a twice-per-month basis. Normal pay dates will be on the 15th and last day of each month. If a payday falls on a Saturday, a Sunday or a holiday, payroll will be distributed on the last scheduled business day prior to the normal pay date. Employees will have access to a secure paperless paycheck/advice detail and leave balance.
- 20.1.4 Effective August 16 of each year, teachers will move one vertical step if agreed upon through Negotiations.
- 20.1.5 Transitional Retirement Option

Eligible teachers may serve the District for one school year beyond their retirement date by participating in the Transitional Retirement Option. In order to be eligible a teacher must be:

- 1. Eligible for retirement under PERA rules.
- 2. Currently employed by the District in a minimum .5 FTE assignment.
- 3. In at least their second year of service to the District.
- In good standing, not currently involved in dismissal procedures or Intensive Assistance as outlined in the Educator Effectiveness Handbook.

Conditions for Transitional Retirement

- 1. The employee will elect to take PERA retirement but will work for Mapleton School District as an employee for the next contract year immediately following the date of retirement.
- 2. The required break in service shall occur in a month with no student contact days. Exceptional circumstances may be considered by the Superintendent or Superintendent's Designee.
- 3. During the transitional year the employee will be placed in the salary range commensurate with placement had the employee not elected retirement.
- 4. Every effort will be made to return the employee to his/her current position.
- 5. Participation in the Transitional Retirement Option is for salary only payment (excluding benefits).
- 6. Participants will be eligible for ten (10) sick leave days.
- 7. Any teachers on the Transitional Retirement Option plan are excluded from the Collective Bargaining Agreement.
- Any teacher whose total score falls in the unsatisfactory range on their summative professional practices evaluation is not eligible for any salary increase. It is the intent of the parties that this article shall not result in a reduction of a teacher's salary. When the teacher achieves a rating above unsatisfactory, the teacher's salary will be recalculated to reflect any negotiated increase. The increase shall be effective at the next pay period following such successful completion.

20.2 Credit Hours

20.2.1 General Guidelines

- 20.2.1.1 After moving into the MA lane, lane movement is limited to one educational lane per school year.
- 20.2.1.2 Official transcripts for horizontal movement between educational lanes must be submitted by August 15.
- 20.2.1.3 A passing grade in each course must be achieved in order for it to be counted.
- 20.2.1.4 A duplicated course, either by title or content will not be counted, unless by prior approval.

- 20.2.2 Qualifications for acceptable course work for horizontal movement between educational lanes will include semester hours of college or university credit earned in one of the items listed below since obtaining the highest degree and initial teacher certification.
 - 20.2.2.1 Graduate hours obtained in teaching major or minors.
 - 20.2.2.2 Education courses which carry graduate credit. If the education course is unrelated to the current teaching assignment, a written request for approval must be submitted prior to enrollment in the course.
 - 20.2.2.3 Graduate courses directed toward an advanced degree in education or graduate courses directed toward a different endorsement area.
 - 20.2.2.4 Undergraduate hours in 1, 2, or 3 above, with prior approval of the Superintendent's designee.
 - 20.2.2.5 Unpaid District No. 1 sponsored in-service courses taken during other than the workday.
 - 20.2.2.6 Unpaid in-services sponsored by any school district taken during other than the workday and directly related to the teacher's specific teaching assignment if approved in advance by the Superintendent or his/her designee.
 - 20.2.2.7 Courses accepted by the Colorado Department of Education for recertification.
- 20.2.3 Employee's proof to the District of acceptable course work for horizontal movement between educational lanes.
 - 20.2.3.1 The employee must provide the Personnel Office with an official college transcript before credit can apply. In lieu of this, a District No. 1 "Intent Form" or official grade report may be used until transcripts can be secured. The transcript should include course number, title, student's grade, and level of classification. The level referred to as "graduate credit" can be awarded only by an institution empowered to issue graduate degrees. If a "graduate" level course is offered under joint sponsorship of an undergraduate degree institution, the transcript from the graduate degree granting institution must be submitted to validate the credit for Educational Range advancement.
 - 20.2.3.2 The employee bears the cost associated with securing documentation for completed college credit.

20.3 Experience Credit

- 20.3.1 Credit will be given for teaching experience outside this District. When determining salary, incoming teachers shall not receive a salary greater than an in-district teacher with commensurate experience and education.
- 20.3.2 When a particular teaching position carries with it the requirement of outside experience of working in that particular field (i.e., for certain vocational positions),

such experience shall be computed on the same basis as outside teaching experience. For purposes of figuring, 2,000 hours shall be considered as one year of work experience. Written proof of such outside work experience shall be required from the employer. Only experience in excess of the number of hours required shall be credited for placement in the salary ranges.

20.3.3 When determining salary placement, the district shall duly acknowledge and honor any relevant private practice experience preceding the date of hire, following the salary placement process. Years of experience are calculated in comparison with the teacher contract year.

20.4 Collaborative Leadership

20.4.1 As per board policy, each school will participate in collaborative decision making. Schools are encouraged to embed collaborative leadership into the regular school day where possible. Extra compensation for additional duties shall be provided when such duties and responsibilities are in addition to a contractual workday. Compensation may be an hourly rate of pay based on the beginning BA salary, release time, or salary advancement credit. The District and the Association will continue to seek creative compensation options.

20.5 Co-Curricular Activities

- The Board and Association have agreed to a new Co-Curricular Schedule for District Level and Performing Arts Assignments, and a new pay structure for School Level Assignments beginning in the 2021-22 school year. All returning coaches from the 2019-20 and 2020-21 school years will be placed on their current step and will then take one step down where applicable. The salaries for all coaches and co-curricular teachers shall be determined by their placement on the co-curricular salary schedule attached as Appendix II. The co-curricular salary schedules will increase each year by the lowest agreed upon percentage increase to teacher salaries.
 - 20.5.1.1 Post-Season: Every week with an additional competition (state playoff game) will be compensated according to the Appendix II Co-Curricular Post Season line on the schedule. "Additional Competition", does not include regionals.
- 20.5.2 Effective August 16 of each year, coaching and co-curricular teachers will move to the next higher experience step for their given sport or activity.
- 20.5.3 Salaries paid to teachers on the Appendix II co-curricular salary schedule for coaches will be paid at the second pay period closest to the middle and end of the season for which they are coaching.

Teachers on Appendix III and Appendix IV co-curricular salary schedules will be paid at the second pay date of November and the second pay date of May.

- 20.5.4 Co-curricular vacancies for the ensuing school year will be posted by May 1. Co curricular vacancies, which occur during the year will be posted within 10 days of when they occur or become known. The best-qualified individual will be selected with preference in filling co-curricular/coaching vacancies and will be done in the following order:
 - a. In-building licensed staff.

- b. Out of building certified staff.
- c. Staff in possession of a letter of authorization from the Colorado Department of Education.
- 20.5.5 Co-curricular staff, through his or her School Director and school co-curricular committee, shall have input into the development of the co-curricular budget. Co-curricular staff will have the right to recommend changes and priorities in the allocation of funds in the co-curricular budget prior to final adoption. Refer to the co-curricular activities' information and application packet for additional information located on the district website/staff.
- 20.5.6 New district co-curricular positions may be considered by submission of application. Application will be in writing and contain rationale, length of program in weeks and all other pertinent information. The disposition of the application will be determined by the Executive Director of Learning Services, subject to program approval by the Board.
- 20.5.7 After initial placement on a co-curricular salary schedule, sponsors will move to the next salary step each year they continue to sponsor the activity. The initial placement will be as close as possible to what they had been earning without losing money (or salary).

20.6 Insurance

20.6.1 Health Insurance. For the 2024-2025 school year, the Board and Association agree to split insurance premiums according to the following table.

	District	Employee
DHMO		
Employee	\$558.00	\$112.30
Employee & Spouse	\$900.00	\$509.91
Employee & Child(ren)	\$886	\$457.15
Employee & Family	\$1210.00	\$757.26
Traditional HMO		
Employee	\$558.00	\$207.41
Employee & Spouse	\$900.00	\$710.43
Employee & Child(ren)	\$886.00	\$644.83
Employee & Family	\$1210.00	\$1034.88

- 20.6.2 Life Insurance. The Board will provide \$2,000.00 life insurance coverage for each teacher for each \$1,000.00 of salary, based on the Salary Schedule in force.
- 20.6.3 Dental Insurance. The Board will contribute \$27.00 for each teacher toward the monthly cost of Employee dental insurance, or \$34.00 for each teacher toward the monthly cost of Family dental insurance.
- 20.6.4 Employee Assistance Program. The Board will contribute for each teacher the full monthly individual cost for employee assistance programs up to a maximum of \$20 per year.

20.7 Annual Review

Health, Life, Vision and Dental Insurance Plans will be reviewed (on an on-going basis) by a Joint Insurance Committee. If at any time it is determined that new bids would be advisable, the Committee may seek such bids. They will make recommendations to the Board and the Association regarding insurance coverage for teachers. The committee will meet at other times upon the request of the Association or the Board. The Insurance Committee will be comprised of equal representation of all stakeholder groups, including three (3) teachers appointed by the Association.

Using the following schedule, a teacher, at the time of his/her retirement, may choose to continue to participate in a District health plan at his/her own expense:

- 2019 2022 retirees may participate for 3 years, including their transition year if applicable.
- 2023 retirees may participate for 2 years, including their transition year if applicable.
- •2024 retirees may participate for 1 year, which may be their transition year.
- Retirees will no longer participate in District health plans following the 2024-2025 school year.

Additional limitations on retiree participation in District offered health insurance plans:

- All currently participating retirees may participate for a maximum of three years, which included their transition year if applicable. All retirees beyond three years on a District health plan will be removed following the 2018-2019 school year.
- As of January 1, 2019, retirees who are eligible for Medicare health benefits will no longer be eligible for participation in District health plans.
- All participation of retirees in District offered health plans will end if/when a significant
 expenditure from the District or its employees is required in order to continue to allow such
 participation.

Retired teachers are responsible for submitting monthly payments to the District Finance Office on or before the dates indicated on the official payment schedule.

Retirees transitioning off of District insurance will be eligible for COBRA benefits as required by applicable law.

20.8 Reimbursements

- 20.8.1 The District will reimburse teachers for mileage whose district or school assignments require travel. The amount of reimbursement shall be based on a yearly plan of required travel. The mileage rate will be based on the Federal government rate as of September 1 each year. Reimbursement will be paid on December 10 and May 25 of each year.
- 20.8.2 The district shall reimburse professional membership dues when required in order for a licensed professional to bill Medicaid. Reimbursement shall occur upon verification of completed service logs.

20.9 Hard-to-fill Positions

20.9.1 Each year, hard-to-fill teaching positions will be identified, and stipend amounts will be determined in Professional Council.

ARTICLE 21 Management Rights

21.1 Unless otherwise expressly agreed to in this Agreement, the Board retains all inherent managerial rights to operate the schools and carry out its functions, duties, obligations, and rights as delegated to it by law or administrative rule or regulation of the State Department or any other rule or regulation having the impact of law.

ARTICLE 22 Duration of Agreement

- 22.1 The Agreement between the Board and the Association will be effective from July 1, 2024 through June 30, 2027. If neither party notifies the other in writing prior to April 1 of any year that this agreement will not be extended, it shall be deemed that the parties have extended this agreement for one year from the termination date set forth above, or from the revised termination date if previously extended.
- 22.2 The Association or the Board may give notice to the other party within the period January 1 to January 15 of each year of this contract of its desire to negotiate changes in the existing contract for a subsequent year, and the Board agrees to meet with the Association for the purpose of such negotiations within 90 days after being notified. Issues for negotiations shall consist of (1) salaries and benefits (2) up to 2 issues brought by the Association (3) up to 2 issues brought by the Board and (4) issue(s) mutually agreed upon prior to negotiations.
- 22.3 In the event any group other than the bargaining agent named in this Agreement desires to serve as bargaining agent, that group, after September 1 of the last year of this contract, may circulate a petition to obtain signatures stating such request. In the event that signatures of at least sixty percent (60%) of those within the bargaining unit are obtained, said petition shall be served on the Board prior to September 30 of the last year of this contract.
- **22.4** No election of the bargaining agent may occur after November 1 of the last year of this contract.
- 22.5 If no new bargaining agent is chosen, the Board will certify the Association as the exclusive bargaining agent for all teachers in the unit and shall negotiate a successor agreement.

APPENDIX I Teacher Salary Schedule 2024-26 SCHOOL YEAR

ВА	BA20	MA	MA20	MA40	MA60/PhD
60,004	63,004	66,155	69,462	72,935	76,582
61,235	64,296	67,511	70,886	74,430	78,151
62,489	65,614	68,894	72,339	75,957	79,754
63,770	66,959	70,307	73,822	77,513	81,388
65,078	68,332	71,748	75,335	79,102	83,057
66,412	69,732	73,218	76,880	80,724	84,760
67,773	71,161	74,720	78,456	82,379	86,497
69,162	72,621	76,251	80,064	84,068	88,271
70,580	74,109	77,815	81,705	85,791	90,081
72,027	75,628	79,410	83,380	87,550	91,927
73,504	77,179	81,038	85,090	89,345	93,811
75,010	78,761	82,699	86,834	91,175	95,261
	80,376	84,395	88,614	93,045	97,697
	82,023	86,125	90,431	94,952	99,700
	83,704	87,890	92,285	96,899	101,743
	85,421	89,692	94,177	98,885	103,830
	87,172	91,530	96,107	100,913	105,958
	88,959	93,407	98,077	102,981	108,130
	90,783	95,322	100,088	105,092	110,347
		97,276	102,139	107,247	112,609
		99,270	104,233	109,445	114,918
		101,306	106,370	111,689	117,273
			108,551	113,979	119,677
			110,777	116,315	122,131
				118,699	124,634

Salary Ranges are based on degrees conferred and semester hours of university credit.

APPENDIX II

Co-Curricular Salary Schedule District Level Assignments 2023-24 SCHOOL YEAR

CATEGORY										
STEP	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1	3593	3083	2825	2568	2516	2312	2157	1979	1837	1615
2	3811	3265	2996	2725	2674	2450	2288	2097	1909	1716
3	4038	3461	3117	2887	2826	2597	2422	2223	2021	1813
4	4284	3667	3362	3061	2997	2752	2569	2356	2138	1924
5	4538	3891	3565	3239	3182	2918	2725	2494	2270	2039
6	4811	4126	3785	3440	3364	3094	2888	2643	2410	2166
7	5101	4366	4009	3639	3568	3282	3062	2804	2572	2296
8	5404	4634	4245	3861	3789	3475	3239	2973	2703	2431
9	5726	4912	4505	4096	4012	3683	3442	3150	2863	2575
10	6074	5211	4771	4339	4247	3904	3645	3343	3037	2736
Post-Season*	359	308	283	256	251	231	215	198	179	161

CATEGORY 1	CATEGORY 2	CATEGORY 3	CATEGORY 4	CATEGORY 5
High School	High School	High School	High School	High School
Football	B/G Soccer	Softball	JV Football	JV B/G Soccer
B/G Basketball	B/G Wrestling	Track	JV B/G Basketball	JV Volleyball
Orchestra	Volleyball	B/G Tennis	Color Guard	JV Baseball
Band	Baseball	Cross Country		B/G C Basketball
Cheerleading(Fall)	Debate	Musical Director		Asst. Football
Cheerleading(Spring)	Choir			
CATEGORY 6	CATEGORY 7	CATEGORY 8	CATEGORY 9	CATEGORY 10
High School	High School	High School	High School	High School
JV Softball	Asst Softball	Asst Cheerleading	Asst SOS Coordinator	Play Assistant
JV Track	Asst Track	Musical Assistant	Knowledge Bowl	Mariachi Band
C Volleyball	Asst Tennis	Play Director	Class Sponsors	Jazz Band
B/G Asst Soccer	Asst Cross Country	Asst Band	National Honor Society	Middle School
B/G Asst Wrestling	CTSO Sponsor	Asst Orchestra	Middle School	All Assistants
Asst Baseball		Asst Choir	B/G Soccer	Jr. National Honor
SOS Coordinator		Middle School	Volleyball	Society
Yearbook		Football	Track	CTSO Co-Sponsor
Weights/Conditioning			B/G Basketball	
			Orchestra	
			Band	
			Choir	

^{*} Post-Season work will be compensated per Article 20.5.1.1

Salaries paid to teachers on the Appendix II Co-curricular salary schedule for coaches will be paid at the second pay period closest to the middle and end of the season for which they are coaching.

^{**} Unless indicated otherwise, Athletic stipends are for one season, Performing Arts stipends are for one school year.

APPENDIX III

Co-Curricular School Level Assignments 2023-24 SCHOOL YEAR

Level 1 Schools - \$1200	Level 2 School -\$2575
30 Hours	65 Hours
Adventure Elementary	Achieve Academy
Global Primary Academy	Clayton Partnership
Mapleton Online	Explore Elementary
North Valley School for Young Adults	Meadow Community
Welby Community	Monterey Community
Valley View	Performing Arts School on Broadway
	Trailside Academy
Level 3 Schools - \$6725	Level 4 Schools - \$11,250
170 Hours	285 Hours
Global Intermediate Academy	Academy High School
Mapleton Early College	Global Leadership Academy
Performing Arts Department	MESA
	York International

School level clubs will be paid at an hourly rate based on the beginning BA range to the listed maximum hours and dollars.